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A Baraboo Air-Line Corporation — in 18717

by Dr. Bob Dewel

Yes, there was indeed a
“Baraboo Air-Line Corporation”
right after the Civil War. That's 33
years before the Wright Brothers.
Was Baraboo that far ahead of its
time? What does it mean? Here is
article seven of the series on the
benefactors of Baraboo.

The village is worried

There was a sense of uncertain-
ty among the residents of littie
Baraboo in the mid-century years
of 1850 to 1870. Everyone knew
one thing was lacking.

True, the village had been
named the county seat through the
cfforts of Preston Brigham and
others, though this honor had to be
frequently defended from propo-
nents in other villages which cov-
cted the privilege

And the river! Only in Baraboo
did the Baraboo river fall enough
to be suitable for dams, so its
power could be used to cut the
jumber, grind the grain, and oper-
ate the looms in the woolen mitl.
There was room for five dams, and
surely they would all be there for-
cver, providing pollution-free
cnergy. Other villages had to resort
to smoke-belching steam engines.

Also, the beauty of the canoe-
shaped valley could not be sur-
passed clsewhere in the state, with
the quartzite bluffs on the north
and south, and the narrows at cach
cnd, giving the valley a Shangri-la
quality of seclusion. But, some
sard, maybe that was the problem!

our dams do not promise such
glowing results,

Efforts to attract a Railroad

It is- not clear why the
Corporation used the word “Air-
Line” in their name, unless it
meant, in those days, “as the crow
flics” to describe a direct route
from Chicago to Minneapolis.
However, a railroad was consid-
ered essential in those virtually
roadless days if a town was to sur-
vive.

The importance of Interstate
highways today is somewhat of a
comparison, though a system of
secondary roads already existed to
act as feeder lines for the new sys-
tem. In the mid-nineteenth century,
however, roads were minimal and
railroad feeder lines followed, not
preceded, the mail rail line.

To make matters even more
troubling, Baraboo residents saw a
rail line cut through Sauk County
on thé south, actually creating
Spring Green. Another line cut the
northeast comer of the county to
Kilboumn (Wisconsin Dells now).
These roads threatened the exis-
tence of Baraboo and its county
seat. Progress might pass by the
town.

Therc were efforts as early as
1852 to secure a rail line, sending
both Col. James Maxwell and P.A.

road companies, organized or
existing, which couid potentially
include Baraboo in their lines, but
all came to naught, it seemed.
Only in 1870, when the Air-Line
was formed, was there real hope.

In October 1869, Col. S.V.R.
Ableman and J.C. Lusk had
revived the movement, so often
frustrated in the past, and applied
for a charter for a railroad through
the Devils Lake pass. On July 1,
1870, the Air-Line Corporation
was formed. Cole relates “Within
two weeks after organization,
(they) reached a basis of agree-
ment with the Chicago and
Northwestern Railway, which
resulted in the actual construction
of the road in the next year.”

Public funds for a railroad!

Progress is never without con-
troversy, and the railroad proposal
did require a very significant con-
tribution from Baraboo and the
townships and villages on the
route. Baraboo's contribution was
determined to be provision of the
right of way, the depot grounds
and large stock purchases.

The railroad’s requirements,
which it spelled out for Baraboo
and from the towns and villages
through which the line would pass,
are curiously complicated. They
were best explained 42 years later,
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Baraboo, who voted 347.to 3 in a
referendum to bond the village,
and 319 to 218 to sell the railroad
stock back for $100. They had

-tried to get a railroad for seventeen

years, and the money was not
going to stop them.

In today’s dollars, the  village
paid the railroad somewhere in the
millions of dollars to come to
town. In those days, for example,
dentures were $20 each, and the
Baraboo Republic cost $2 a year.
A magazine subscription for a year

with the Chicago and
Northwestern Railroad by an act of
the legislature in 1871.

Observations

So, who are the benefactors of
Baraboo, eligible to be included in
this series of articles? One hesi-
tates to name names of the men
involved in the 17-year cffort, but
surely Col. Ableman, P.A. Basset
and Col. James Maxwell should be
mentioned. Cole and Butterfield
list many others that were
involved. i

The real benefactor of Baraboo,
however, was the village itself and
the citizens who voted in the refer-
endum to issue bonds for a private-
ly owned company in a sometimes
unscrupulous industry. It could
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A Whistlin’ and Tootin' Railroad Town

Taliesof Other Bays
By Bob Dewel

This is my fourth article on the railroad in Sauk County. Two were written in 1997
and dealt with the amival of the railroad in 1871. A recent story reported on the
subsequent freight operations and their importance to the area. In this article | will
include a report on the once-ubiquitous passenger service the area enjoyed then, but
which is now long gone.

There is far more information available than can be condensed into even four
stories. For the serious railroad buff | suggest that they consult the 1995 Northwestern
Lines magazines at the Sauk County Historical Society library, two of which have stories
authored largely by Baraboo’s Mark Carlson. The railroad has been a factor in Baraboo
life for 135 years.

The Whistles :

Baraboo must have been a whistling and tooting town in the old days. Carlson
reports that in 1910 there were at least 41 freight and passenger trains passing through
the city per day. Now 41 trains a day, with four toots per crossing, and five crossings
really adds up. Four toots times five crossings makes 20 toots per frain, times 41 trains, or
a total of 820 toots and whistlesl!

In addition, there was an occasional switch engine whistle to add to the
cacophony, plus the Ringling and Gollmar circus frains! Add to this the woolen mill
whistle and perhaps others, and you have a whistling and tooting town for sure!

The presence of the railroad was noted in another way also, for during the days
of steam power, the acrid smell of burning coal, combined with black soot, blanketed
the city. This was particularly noticeable by the presence of soot on a new snowfall. The
fouling of the air was enhanced by the fact that most homes and stores also heated with
codl,

No wonder some of our buildings had to be cleaned or sandblasted in recent
years fo restore the appearance of the stone or brick. However, there was little
complaint from anyone in the early days, for the railroad meant jobs and progress. No
one knew of a better fuel than coat until the arrival of diesel engines for the trains and
gas heat for the homes. Now we are dependent on foreign sources and political
influence for our energy supply and its cost, a dangerous threat to our national security.

Like so many industries over the decades, the railroad reached its zenith and then
declined. This was particularly apparent in Baraboo, which not only saw the slow decline
in freight and passenger service, but the inevitable movement of the division operation
to Madison, our voracious behemoth to the south and east.

Passenger service

Itis hard for a modern day person to readlize the importance of railroad passenger
service to the economy of the region. Few of the blue highways were paved in the early
part of the 20" century, and 4-lane interstates systems would nave been ridiculed as
unaffordable. The passenger trains seemed to go everywhere, with interconnecting
services to all lines, so that one could easily travel from the largest city to the smallest
community.

Railroad schedules seem baffling compared to our modern airline schedules,
none of which serve cities generally smaller than 100,000 persons. Sauk County even had
a siding called Podunk, where some local trains would stop if signaled for a passenger. In
some areas, stage coach service, sometimes motorized, would provide passage as was
the case between Baraboo and Kilbourn (now Wis. Dellsj.
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The Western Hotel, once
Baraboo's Finest

Yesteryear Revisited
By Bob Dewel

The building pictured with this
article was once one of the most
important buildings in Baraboo., It was
known for most of its existence as the
Western Hotel.

The name is appropriate, for,
looking at the picture, one can almost
picture a cowboy jumping the railing of
the second floor porch, and landing on
his horse. Then, just as in the movies, he
scoops up his sweetheart at the corner,
and they go galloping off down Fourth
Avenue. Early Baraboo had a
distinctive western flavor.

We have no record of such an
event but we do know a lot about this
hotel thanks to the Baraboo Intensive
Survey, the Sauk County Historical
Society, and especially to Joe Ward, an
expert on the history of buildings in
downtown Baraboo.

A local institution

The Western House, known
originally as the Adams House, was built
in 1847 by Colonel Edward Sumner. The
building, was located on the
Southeastern corner of Oak and Fourth
Street, and underwent several
enlargements from its original rather
modest size. It served, along with Taylor
Hall, the Courthouse, and the Methodist
Church, as a meeting place for the
growing community.

Traveling salesmen, land
speculators, judicial circuit officers, and
other visitors stayed there. Perhaps the
strangest  use, however, was the
employment of an occasional room or
so as ajail.  As reported in a previous
article, this matter was the subject of a
heated editorial in the local newspaper,
probably the short lived Sauk County
Standard, which reported in 1857 that

the prisoner not only slept there but
dined with the other guests.

He had the freedom to roam the
city streets during the day, "gossiping
with clerks and merchants until the gong
sounded for dinner, which meal he eats
with as good grace as if he, instead of
the county, paid for it. He has no
disposition to run away, considering
himself the best-freated man in Sauk
County. We understand that the Sheriff
proposed him to work on his farm, but
was informed by the gentlemanly
prisoner that the county had agreed to
support him three months without work.”

Other owners

In 1855 Colonel Sumner sold the
Western House to Dunn and Davis, who
in turn sold it to William Wallace, who, in
1870, sold it to a Mr. Campbell. The
business seems to have been known as
both the Western House and the
Western Hotel, and its most famous
visitor was Mrs. Abraham Lincoln. She
had been staying at the Cliff House at
Devils Lake, but stopped at the Western
Hotel before leaving the area.

The proprietor of the Cliff House,
Wiliam B. Pearl, was for a short time
owner of the Western Hotel. However,
fire destroyed the Western Hotel, indeed
all of the Oak Street buildings from Third
to Fourth Street, on November 6, 1878. A
year or so previously, fire had destroyed
most of the buildings on Fourth Street,
and a similar fate befell much of the rest
of the downtown, sparing only the
ancient building at 137 Third Avenue, as
reported in arecent article.

Other owners

The Western was not Baraboo's
only hotel. In 1843 James Webster
erected a small hotel, focation not
given, and in about 1847 Lyman Clark
built the Baraboo hotel on the South
Side, on the northwest corner of Walnut
and Lynn Streets.. In the early 1850’s, the
Wisconsin House was erected on the
present site of the Al Ringling Theatre,
and it will be pictured in the next article.
The Baraboo Intensive Survey also
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Old Buildings and Big

Boxes, Part One

Yesteryear Revisited
By Bob Dewel

Which is the oldest building in
Downtown Baraboo? Who opened the
first store in the settlement? Were “chain
stores” the death knell of local
merchants, as predicted? Were Sears
and J.C. Penney's, the big boxes of their
day, a threat to the local establishment?2

The
First Store

Challenging questions, so let's
begin at the beginning. It appears, from
the early histories, that the first store in
the Baraboo Rapids area was not even
owned by Baraboo settlers! None other
than Count Haraszthy, the entrepreneur
from the vilage which bore his name
(now Sauk City) was the absentee
owner of Baraboo's first store.

Haraszthy was a promoter, and
developed other ventures in the areq,
including a steamboat on the Wisconsin
River!  Inexplicably, on Christmas Day
1848, he loaded up his family and
headed for Cadlifornia, where he
subsequently became a state leader in
many fields, including making wine.
What happened to his Baraboo store is
not known.

Haraszthy's importance on the
California scene is quite impressive, and
internet browsers need only type in
Haraszthy on Google and some nine
articles will appear, ranging from his
early election as sheriff of San Diego
County to his death, possibly due to an
encounter with an alligator. Haraszthy
deserves a separate article, which may
appear in due time.

The
Oldest Building

The growth of the Baraboo River
rapids area into a collection of villages
named Adams, Manchester, Lyons, and
Baraboo is chronicled in previous
articles. As is well known, the name

Baraboo was adopted for the entire
group except Lyons, with the Adams
section and its courthouse square
dominating the scene.
Lyons (now West Baraboo) was platted
even before Baraboo, and continues to
maintain its independence, though it
does not maintain a police force and
certain other  customary village
obligations, despite recent growth.

Downtown Baraboo continued
to thrive. Thanks to Joe Ward, local
research expert on downtown Baraboo,
we have a rather complete history of
what is probably the oldest downtown
building, namely the recently restored
frame building at 137 Third Avenue.
How it was spared form the fires that
ravaged the city in the 1860's through
the 1880's is not known.

Ward has generously shared his
extensive knowledge of the history of
the structure with us. It appears that the
building was constructed in about 1850,
by P.A. Bassett, local mill operator with
many business interests. It was known as
the Headquarters Store, and a sketch
accompanies this article. Note that
there appears to be a park or vacant lot
to the west, where the Sauey Building
and Shoe Box store now reside. Both
buildings were recently restored by Bill
Savey, adding an attractive and
important corner to downtown Baraboo.

The Headqguarters Store sold
groceries, dry goods, and general
merchandise, apparently a typical old
fashioned general store. Ifs revival in
1887 by M.J. Drown made it infto a
model establishment, doing an
astounding $30-40,000 business a year.
Drown, like Bassett, was one of the
vilage leaders, having purchased what
remained of the Wood and Rowan dam
and sawmill, idle since 1847. This
property eventually became the Island
Woolen Mill, Baraboo's principal industry
for many decades.

Drown's interest in the
Headqguarters store was therefore only
one of his enterprises, On Dec. 8, 1887,
the Headquarters store was converted
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"Headquarters” General Store - erected ca. 1852
137 Third Avenue
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to Barstow Flour and Feed, and
remained so until its 50" birthday, in
1902.  There is much more to be told of
the story of this ancient building, now so
handsomely restored. To be continued,
including the big boxes of earlier years.



Part 2, The Oldest
Building and Big Boxes

Yesteryear Revisited
By Bob Dewel

As was noted in the previous
article, the 1850 Headquarters General
Store at 137 Third Avenue found itself
serving, 50 years later, as the Barstow
Flour and Feed. Flour and feed were
essential businesses in those days, and
Barstow was succeeded in December,
1902, by the Ben S. Doty Seeds and
Feed:s.

Within a vyear, however, the
business was sold to P.H. Keyser, to be
known as the Keyser and Kachel Seed
and Feed. This was succeeded in 1910,
when Jerome Briggs took over, as Briggs
and Co., Grocer, Flour, and Feed.
Griggs moved to 616 Oak in 1915,
replacing the Jadike blacksmith shop at
about the present location of Badger
Cleaners.

Baraboo's downtown was not
always as level as it is now, there being a
rse in grade where the Al Ringling
Theatre now stands, and low marshy
areas in the 5t street area and near the
library. The old building at 137 Third
Avenue was also on high ground, and
was lowered to sidewalk level 1919 by
Frank Herfert, as well as receiving a
new and modern front.

The new occupant was
community leader Lauire C. Welch,
operating as the Welch Plumbing and
Heating business. In June of 1952, Welch
was reported missing on a flight home
from Spokane, WA. He piloted his own
plane, a maroon Stinson, which may
have foundered in the Vvicinity of
Kalispel, MT.

The Welch establishment now
became the Henry W. Roser Plumbing
and Heating, and later the Baraboo
Plumbing and Heating as operated by
Wm. D. Bothel from 1972 to 1979. The
sforied career of the old building now
took a different course in 1985, being

operated for a short time as the Fabric
Store. This was followed by the Three
Ring Hobbies store operated by E&d
Steeb.

Richard Lanz operated his
antiques business in the building until
1995, when the property was purchased
by the Nordic Group. This fortunate
acquisition resufted in a rather faithful
restoration of the fagade to the original
appearance of the Headguarters
Building of 1850. There is a modemn
interior which gives no hint of its many
previous occupants,
offices of Viney and Viney Law office. As
was indicated in the previous article, we
are indebted to Joe Ward for his
detailed and in depth knowledge of the
history of the building.

Consider the changes seen by
this building in its 150 years. Not yet
invented was the typewriter, the
telephone, nor electricity in all its forms
and uses today. The automobile, the
airplane, radio, and television were
unknown. Yet to be built were a new
brick courthouse, a city hall with tower,
and the old red brick jail, all of which
have come and gone while 137 Third
Street stood its ground.

Fre ravaged the rest of
downtown, and the ftwo story brick
fagade buildings we see today are all
youngsters in the view of the old
Headquarters store building. There was
no newspaper and no bank, and in fact
Baraboo's downtown in 1850 bore
almost no resemblance to today’s
picturesque Courthouse Square and the
surrounding period style buildings.

The Big Boxes of old

We have dlready seen, in the
previous article, that Baraboo's first store
was not even locally owned. Many of
the leading Baraboo industrialists of the
19th century were outfsiders who came,
saw the potential, and became
residents and developer of the
community,

What turmoil there must have
been when, in 1929, it was learned that
the big boxes of the day, called chain
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Downtown Baraboo's
Most Venerable Building

Yesteryear Revisited
By Bob Dewel

Which is the most venerable
building in Downtown Baraboo?2 Which
structure is not necessarily the most
beautiful, but has historical import and
dignity or character? Our tentative
nomination is the Wright building on the
Southeast corner of Oak and Fourth
Street. It is known today as the Corner
on Wisconsin

Venerable?2 Well, if for no other
reason, it is the only building which has
had a business with the word venerable
in its title. Remember the 'Venerable
Bean of the early 1990's? it was
Baraboo's first coffee house, and was
located in the Wright building.

Known to generations as the
Reinking building, the structure was
preceded on that location by the
Western  Hotel, Baraboo's leading
hostelry of the mid-nineteenth century.
The land had been a part of Prescott
Brigham's 1846 gift “with his own money"
of the section of land which became
downtown Baraboo.

After the County took ownership,
it sold off lots, and this corner was
purchased in 1847 by Colonel Edward
Sumner for his Adams House Hotel,
which soon was enlarged and renamed
the Western Hotel A series of owners
followed, but on November 6, 1878, one
of Baraboo's disastrous fires destroyed it
and all structures south to the corner of
Oak and Third Street. An article on the
Western Hotel will follow.

It did not take long for such
valuable property to be reoccupied,
and in 1881 the present building was
erected by Elizabeth Wright of Baraboo
at a cost of $5500. We suspect that, due
to inflation, the taxes are about that
much per yearl

Mrs. Wright must have been a
shrewd investor, for the new building

couid accommodate four businesses.
As can be seen by the accompanying
drawing. the Post Office occupied the
corner bay, now the north half of the
Corner on Wisconsin. The center bay
was occupied by the R. Jackson
grocery, with the present location of the
Garden Party Caofé occupied by long-
time clothier J. Hoppe. In the basement
in 1891 was A. C. White's Tonsorial Parlor.
In 1895 Holden's barber shop occupied
the small room at the rear facing Fourth
Street, followed by Ibe’s Tailor Shop. |

According fo downtown
research expert Joe Ward, the Devils
Lake CIliff House Hotel owner W.P. Pearl
planned to convert the two North bays
into a hotel, with a dining room, The
kitchen would occupy the bay
occupied by the Tailor. These plans
never materialized, and in 1897 the
Baraboo Music Store took over the North
bay, selling Fisher pianos.

The purchase of the property in
1899 by August Reinking brought nearly
a century of stability to the building.
Reinking had already been operating a
store in various locations in downtown
Baraboo, having arrived in the city in
1879. In the new location, the partition
between the North and center bays was
removed for the Reinking dry goods
store, with the South bay occupied by a
jewelry store, and later by Vethe Music.

In 1901 Reinking's son
Autie returned, having graduated from
dental school, and it is believed he
added the second floor bay window
projection near the corner as part of a
dental office. Business  pressure,
however, resulted in his assuming active
participation in the store, and he never
practiced dentistry, it is said. The space
upstairs was used by the Ringlings for
wardrobe production.

A fire on January 24, 1929,
gutted much of the interior, which was
rebuilt in what was then considered the
most modern way to operate a large
store. A system of cables or vacuum
tubes passed from sales desks to a
central cashier on a raised platform,
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Part Two, Baraboo Hotels Come and Go

Yesteryear Revisited
By Bob Dewel

As reported in the previous article, Baraboo had up to a dozen hotels after the
arrival of the railroad in 1871, not including the resort hotels at Devils Lake. It was
apparent to the editor of the Baraboo Republic in 1877, however, that none of the
establishments measured up to the standard required by fthe growing city. Even the
venerable Western Hotel was called an eyesore.

The Business Association formed a movement to promote erection of a good
hotel, and the result was the Sumner House. It was a 60 times 66 foot structure
constructed on the Northwest corner of Oak and Fourth Avenue, and opened in
September, 1878. With only 17 rooms, it was partially destroyed by fire on January 11,
1882.

The Warren Hotel

By 1884, the newspaper announced that Mayor Warren was going to enlarge the
Sumner house, add a third story, and rename it the Warmren House. The addition wouid
bring ifs capacity to 40 rooms, with dining room and reading room. The paper said that,
upon completion, the hotel would soon “rank with the leading hotels of the state”.

For some 80 years the Warren Hotel did indeed set the standard, at least for south
central Wisconsin. The impressive sandstone block fagcade was comparable to that of
the present Cornerstone Gallery building, 101 Fourth Street, though the Warren was a
much larger building. One could choose o dine in the dining room, the barroom with its
Chinese cook and Chinese cuisine, or attend a dinner party in the Pine Room in the lower
level. The latter was temporarily renamed the Bomb Shelter during the Powder Plant
days of WW {l.

The loss of the Warren House to fire was a severe blow to Baraboo, leaving it
without a downiown hotel. For a few years the sturdy sandstone walls belied the inner
devastation, but it was not feasible to rebuild, and Wilbur Deppe finally had the remains
removed and replaced with a modern one story business mall. Rumor now has it that
downtown Baraboo will soon have a hotel built nearby, Hopefully this will happen.

Other hotels

it seems that 1894 was a seminal year in Baraboo, for another hotel was built that
year, named the Bender, on the Northeast corner of Lynn and Walnut. Its 20 rooms were
more of a boarding house, and its proximity to the rairoad made it a popular
establishment. President Hayes is said to have left the train and dined there. In 1879 the
frame building was replaced with a more substantial brick structure. In recent years it
was known as Dombroski's bar, and now has been remodeled, well after a fire, into the
Old Baraboo Inn restaurant.

Another downtown hotel was the Wisconsin House, a two story frame building.
Erected in the 1850's, it served until about 1912 when it was removed in preparation for
the construction of the Al. Ringling Theatre. It is said that the vacant land was used
in 1913 and 1914 for outdoor movies. A separate article will discuss this hotel.

Of interest is the building at 123 Ash. The wood frame City Hotel once was
located here, replaced in 1888 by George Urban with the brick veneer two story Urban
hotel, complete with dining room and saloon as well as hotel rooms.

Diagonally across the street was once another City Hotel, at 200 Ash Street, built
about 1890, and which operated until 1930. Later it became Wilder's Big Top Tavern,
including a rooming house. It has recently been handsomely remodeled into
apartments. Other hotels in Baraboo were the Premo House, the Pratt House, and the

Exchange Hotel.
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Honored Building has
Checkered Past

Yesteryear Revisited
By Bob Dewel

You'd never guess if, from the
sparkling white early American fagade,
but the building at 137 3@ Avenue, the
Viney Law Offices, is the oldest building
on the square. By some miracle it
survived the many fires that plagued the
city in the 1870-80 period. Those old
wood structures were probably good
riddance, making way for the substantial
two story brick front edifices we see
today in downtown Baraboo.

One such fire burned most of the
first block of Fourth Street, and among
the first to be replaced was the smaill
but sturdy structure at 101 Fourth Street
occupied today by the Cornerstone
Gallery. Because of the quality and
historical significance of this [talianate
Romanesque building, it has been
placed on the National Register of
Historic Places.

Early History

This article discusses in detail the
checkered past of this small but
prominent edifice, which was once
owned by this writer. We did an in-
depth study of its history, and a small
booklet was prepared. It has now
proven to be of value since the original
abstract has been lost. Briefly, this
dignified corner has been host to meat
markets, a saloon, various professional
offices, a bank, a candy kitchen-—but
we get ahead of the story!

In the early days all of the
western lands of the new American
Republic were listed originally as the
property of the state. This was not
communism. It was simply a way to
make an orderly transfer of the temitories
into private hands, and so it was with the
history of the plot of ground at 101
Fourth Street.

The first transfer of ownership was
from the United States to Sauk County,

on August 1, 1848. This was certainly
part of the land purchased "with his own
money"” by Prescott Brigham of Sumpter
Township, and donated to the newly
formed county with its empty treasury.
This story had been covered in depth in
other  articles. The land was
subsequently sold off by the county,
except for the courthouse square, and
the first purchaser of this corner was one
Ezra Benton, who paid $42.50. Benton
made money, for in 1853 he sold it for
$250 to James Arden, but Arden sold it in
three months for $500, doubling his
money.

Fire

Apparently the new owner, for a
time, was the redoubtable Baraboo
pioneer woman, Roseline Peck, whose
ownership lasted until 1870, when it
brought $780. We read in Butterfield,
page 527, that "on the night of Nov. 26,
1872, a fire broke out in the (frame
building at this location}) occupied by
Charles Sears as a meat market. The
flames could not be checked, and
when they had spent their fury seven
buildings were in ashes. The losses
included: Building, cormmer Oak and
Fourth owned by Levi Crouch and
occupied by Frank McGinnis, loss
$1000..."

Now, nothing against meat
markets, but they do not ordinarily build
talianate Romansque  structures to
house their business. The speculation is
that a group of aspiring entrepreneurs
got together, built the buiding, and
failed to follow through on the bank
project. it seems to have been sold to
the Gust Brothers meat market, which, in
two years sold it to S.S. Grubb at a profit
of $550, not bad in those days.

A bank at
last

At last, in 1888, the building gets
its dignity, at least for a time, for Frank
Brewster buys it, then sells It the following
year to the new Baraboo Savings Bank,
making $750 on the deal. This happy
state was to last only until 1897, when
the bank apparently went under and
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Four Generations in the

Furniture Business
Yesteryear Revisited
By Bob Dewel

Which is the oidest business firm
in Baraboo? The Corner Drug Store
traces its beginning to 1855, apparently
using the same name. Vying for the
honor, however, is this newspaper,
founded as the Baraboo Republic in
1855. Another claimant is the Baraboo
National Bank, founded in 1857 as the
Sauk County Bank. Baraboo was a
young and rambunctious boom town in
those days

If you considered organizations in
continuous existence, the First United
Methodists frace their existence to 1842,
and were the first church group
organized in Baraboo. The Masonic
Order dates from 1851, predating the
Corner Drug, the bank and the
newspaper. Both the Inter Se and the
Fortnightly Club can trace meeting
dates into the Ilate 1800’s. County
government began in 1844, and West
Baraboo was incorporated as Lyons well
before Baraboo sought incorporation.

Furniture Stores

As far as businesses go, neither
the Corner Drug nor the Bank can claim
four generations of family ownership, but
there is one firm that can—the McGann
Furniture  Store. They could be
celebrating their centennial soon,
though the exact date is shrouded in
mystery. Downtown historian Joe Ward
puts the beginning of the McGann
owner ship at “sometime prior to 1905"

The fumiture store, however,
outdates the McGann ownership by
some 30 years, forin April of 1873 Carlos
Bacon purchased the already existing
furniture establishment of Baldwin and
Hirschinger, and renamed it the Peoples
Furniture Store, adding Henry R. Ryan as
a partner in November. It was located
in one of Baraboo's first buildings of any
consequence, the Taylor's Hall building

on the SE corner of Broadway and Third
Avenue. In 1882, however, new owner
Wiliam Slade moved the store to his
newly erected building at 145 Third
Street. This building is currently occupied
by Community Home Medical.

The McGanns

In a report far too detailed than
can be presented in a newspaper
article, Ward then turns to the story of
John McGann, who at about the age of
20 established a business in Baraboo in
cooperation with his brother in Jlaw,
James R. Curry, it being a coal and ice
business. They seem to have been in
business in the mid-1880's, but from 1890
to 1892 McGann was in Butte, Montana.

Meantime Carlos Bacon, the
furniture store man, became in 1889
vice-president of the new First National
Bank of that day, organized in 1886.
Apparently he found his banking duties
more remunerative than those of his
furniture store, which he sold in early
1891 to a couple of newcomers from
Ohio, which business now became
known as Welch and Erswell, Fumniture
Dealers, Undertakes, and Embalmers.

Apparently the new business
failed, but there is some confusion as o
a time gap here. Meantime, Edward
Erswell, Charles Melzel, and John Mc
Gann {mentioned above) established a
new firm, with the name—no surprise—
Erswell, Melzel, and McGann, Furniture
and Undertaking. This, sometime before
1905, became the beginning of the
McGann family ownership, which has
lasted about a century.

Meantime, as reported in
another article, the Masonic Lodge had
in 1892 dedicated their new Temple on
the NW corner of Oak and Second
Streets. The Lodge retained the upper
floor for their use, but rented out the
spacious lower level fo a variety of
businesses, including for a time the post
office. In 1906 the post office moved to
its new building across the street south,
currently the offices of the Baraboo
Schooi District.
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Following the departure of the
post office from part of the lower floor,
the entire spaced was occupied in 1906
by the now thriving Erswell, Melzel,and
McGann enterprise. There appears to
have been a split in ownership in 1912,
for Erswell has a competing store at 129
Third Avenue, occupied now in 2004 by
Ploetz Furniture.

Melzel and McGann continued
in the combined fumniture and
embalming business. and purchased a
fine new auto hearse in 1916 to replace
horse-drawn wagons used in the past.
With the death of Charles Melzel in 1929,
John McGann became sole owner of
the business which traced its beginning
back to 1873, as related above.

Jack McGann

John McGann had a son by the
same name, but nicknamed Jack. He
graduated from a Chicago embalming
school in 1934 and associated himself,
along with his brother Louis, in the
McGann store. Within months, however,
John found himself, along with his
brother and Mother, the owner of the
business, for John McGann Sr. had died
while in consultation at the Mayo Ciinic.

In 1941, they opened a funeral
home at 520 East Street, later soid to Les
Hanson and now known as the Rago
runeral Home. Ed Kurtz joined the firm in
1951, which for a time was known as
McGann-Kurtz Furniture. Disaster had
struck in 1957, with a total loss due to fire,
as reported in a previous article.

Thanks to Royce Cushman, a
fellow Barbershop Quartet member with
McGann, they were back in business in
three days at 112 Fifth Avenue. The First
Baptist Church building on the cormner of
Broadway and Third Avenue had been
purchased just before the fire. Thanks o
rapid demolition and construction, the
firm moved to its new location in nine
months. They have since expanded into
neighboring buildings.

Recent years have seen the
continuation of McGann family
members participating in the business,
and do not require extensive review at

this time. The third generation of
McGanns was represented by the arrival
of James McGann into the parinership in
1964, and in 1983 Casey McGann, a
present co-owner, became the fourth
McGann family member to operate the
business. Thus the family can trace
ownership, full or partial, for a century,
although an exact date of the first
ownership is not known for sure.

Historians of small cities are often
struck by the comings and goings of
families over the years. Americans are a
restless lot, and only rarely do you find
several generations of a family
remaining in the same locality.
Predating even the McGanns are such
families as the Pointons, who first made
an appearance in Baraboo before the
Civil War. This writer would be interested
in hearing from others whose families
have been in the area continuously from
before 1865.
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When A Cannon Started Races at Devils Lake

Tales of Gther Daps
By Bob Dewel

Devils Lake today is a tranquil refuge from the noise and commercialism of our
area. It waters are gently rippled only by sailboats and other slow-moving boats.
Sometimes the shrill cry of a sea gull is the only sound to skirl the air.

it was not so tranquil for our forbearers, however, especially in the summer of
1877. Note the crowd in the attached picture,, and also the cannon. Its boom will
certainly reverberate from cliff to cliff. What is going on?

The Lake in 1877

First, Lets set the scene. There is no state park in 1877 and no rangers or
campgrounds.  All of the land is privately owned, down to the water's edge, and at
least three hotels and other accommodations dot the shoreline. Well over a dozen tfrains
huff and puff their way on the rather new Northwestern rail line, fouling the air with soot
and the stench of their smoke. Some trains stop, disgorging up to 1500 passengers to
spend the day—or a week—at the lake. A steamboat churns and whistles its way along
the shore line.

It's not exactly the ecological and geological paradise we enjoy today, a
biological microcosm of the past in @ mountain-like setting. . Fortunately the forested
areas away from the lake were petty much undisturbed in those early yeas. The maijestic
lake and the bluffs which guard it were threatened, however, by commercial quarry
operations next to the railroad on the East Biuff. It would be thirty years before a
determined state legislature forced removal of the quamy operation away from the lake
and around to the south face of the East Bluff, as related in previous articles (Book V, 28-
32).

Plans for two days

The event which featured the cannon was indeed an unusual time for Baraboo
and Devils Lake. A regatta was planned for June 20 and 21, with entries from St. Paul,
Chicago, and Milwaukee, consisting of single, two-man and four -man racing sculls.
There would be eleven different races, a mile each direction for most. Considerable
interest was show throughout the Midwest, with reporters form Minneapolis, Chicago, La
Crosse, and Waukesha in attendance. The Northwestern Raiiroad announced special
fares, 60% of the normail ticket price.

The La Crosse Sun opined that “there is more interest in a race of rowboats,
manned by stalwart men, than in a horse race or a church raffle.” The St. Paul Pioneer
Press said that the St. Paul oarsmen had their boat constructed in New York, and that it
was “"the finest and handsomest four-oared paper shell...forty-one feet in length and
eighteen inches in width, and is supplied with sliding seats.’

Travelers were assured that the Devils Lake hotels, namely the Cliff House, the
Kirkland, and the Fountain House, augmented by those in Baraboo, could supply ample
accommodations. The old Taylor's Hall building on the Southeast corner of Broadway
and Third was converted for dormitory use, with an ample supply of cots and
“shakedowns<" the latter type of accommodation being unexplained.

Both the Western and Wisconsin House hotels in Baraboo were arranging extra
accommodations, with “good stabling attached (for the horses), and have filled their
bins and lofts with food.” At the lake, the Kirkiland Hotel planned to feature wines from its
own vineyard, and the Devils Lake hotels promised ton “make prices as moderate as the
service rendered will admit.” The La Crosse paper stated that meals, by law, could cost
no more than three shillings at the event.
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Regatta Day in June 1877, Part i

Tales of Gther Bays
By Bob Dewel

Today is an anniversary of sorts, a 129 anniversary no less. As was described in‘

our article of two weeks ago, thousands of persons from the Midwest had converged on
Devils Lake on June 20, 1877, for a skull racing event. To the constemation of the
committee, however, that day was a rainy and blustery day, unfit for scull racing on the
rough waters of Devils Lake.

Therefore it was announced that the races would be postponed to the next day,
Thursday. June 21, 1877. To add to the executive commitiee's frustration, the skles
cleared nicely later in the day, but it was too late to restart the event.

. Thursday the 21% was sunny, however, with a cool breeze, and the “programme”
began, with complete reporting of results by the Republic. It stated that “our sireets
were crowded with teams and people in countless numbers; excursion trains from the
east brought thousands more...variously counted from 8000 to 5000." The Republic
noted that “a clear day and a coollng breeze put everybody in good humor, and those
that were disappointed the previous day rallied to the scene among the foremost."”

The First Day's events

The racing course went from near the Cliff House Hotel to a marker a mile distant,
near the head of the lake. Curiously, the cannon pictured in the last arficle is not
mentioned, but must have been used to start the races. The oarsmen represented seven
clubs, the Mitchell (Milwaukee), the Riverdale rowing club, Niles Rowing Club {Michigan),
Northwestern Rowing association, the Minnesota (St. Paul), and the Faragut (Chicago).
and of course the Minnewpukan. Club of Baraboo. “all having brought single or double
sculls, or four oored sculls, with them:

. The First Day's Events

in the first race, the Minnesota rower dropped out, “frightened of the rough water
and unable to swim." The other St. Paul rower “stove a hole in his boat,” slowing him
down. The Niles Michigan rower won, with Tom Thompson of Baraboo a close second,
covering the mile in 16:30 minutes. The winner received a prize of $50, not an insignificant
sum in those days, with perhaps buying power of near $1000 today.

The second race was for common boats. The newspaper reports are fuzzy, but
the prize was only “two $5 greenbacks” as they were called in those days. Only three
double sculls were involved in the third race, but the Republic reported that “some fine
work was done in this race”. The newspaper also dutifully reported the number of
strokes per minute for each scull, ranging from 34 to 38.

There was almost a photo finish for this race, the winner completing the race of
two miles in 11:32 minutes. The Fourth race was for single sculls, represented by
Thompson of Baraboo with his homemade buttemut boat. One boat was in the lead
unfil “the waves broke in his deck” and another boat came in first, with Baraboo's
Thompson second. The final race of the day featured four-oared shells, with four medals
valued at $30 each, but only three shells entered. Thompson did well considering that
someone had stepped into his boat earlier and “stove a hole in it." requiring emergency
repairs.

Awards for the day were announced from the balcony of the Cliff House, after a
few remarks by Capt. Cowles, He was accompanied by a commitiee of young ladies
from Chicago, New Your, and Baraboo. The latter included such well known names in
Baraboo history as Marie Gattiker, Della Draper, Ella Pointon, Laura Cowles, Carrie Butler,
Ada Ryan, (2) Drown, and also “Master Myers, who won the goose race.”
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' The steamboat
The Republic makes no mention of it, but it is likely that the steamship

Minnewauken had. the busiest days of its career on Devils Lake during the races. We.

have not found a picture of the Minnewauken, but it replaced the Capitola, pictured
with this article. The Capitola was launched in 1869, and served for five years. General
U.S. Grant is reported to have been a passenger sometime during its days on the lake. it
is said that the boat was at times “used for midnight concerts by musicians playing from
the middle of the lake,” as reported in the recent Sauk County Historical Museum’s
recent publication, “Images of America-Baraboo.” That musical feature has been
resurected in the recent years by Jemy Stich and his musicians, but not at midnight that
we know ofl

The old newspapers are interesting to read. On the same page as the regatta
reports is a notice to a large number of residents requiring them fo install sidewalks on
their property. On July 18, 1877, “There will be a school meeting...to consider the matter
of organizing a high school for the cityl" Also announced by the Baraboo Ball Club was
“our first reception...At our first game we will appear in ‘full dress’.” A very brief mention
is made of the plans of Col. Sumner to build a hotel-it became the landmark Warren
Hotel, which burned in the 1960’s some 80 year later.

As might be expected, Chicago gamblers “reaped a fine harvest during the
day”, but were hauled into court that evening and fined a modest $75. The paper
expressed oufrage at their presence. | guess we can't say that life was too dull in 1877,
with multistate racing on the lake, uniformed baseball club players, and midnight
serenades from a boat on the lake—and gamblers And yes, a controversy about
sidewalks.
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